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RECEIVED
FEDERAL ELECTISH
COMMISSION

SECRETARIAT

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20146 00 OV 2u A G u8

November 21, 2003

MEMORANDUM
TO: ‘THE COMMISSION SENSHWE
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
ROBERT J. COSTA 76%‘——
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON
ASSISTANT STAF¥ DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON- TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2003 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINES
PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file, or failed
to timely file, the 2003 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
September 19, 2003, Prior Notice was sent to all political commitiees and their treasurers,
informing them that the QOctober Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2003. The report
should cover from July 1, 2003 through September 30, 2003.

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report eithes fatled to file the
report or filed the report more than five (5) days after the due date. In accordance with the
schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, these committecs should be
assessed the civil money penalties included on the report provided. - T

Recommeandation
(1) Find reason to believe that the political commitices and their treasurers listed on the RTB
Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the

civil money penatties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Report.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Monday, November 24, 2003_ 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2003 _4:00

=t COMMISSIONER: MASON. McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB
, SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation — 2003 October
= Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.
2 Memorandum from the Assistant Staff Director Reports
Analysis Division dated November 21, 2003.
i
41 () } approve the recommendation(s)
i () | object to the recommendation(s)
() i approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

{) 1 approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain {please insert AF#)

() | apprave the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() | am not voting on this tally.
A definite vote is required. Ali ballots must be signed and dated. Please return

ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
In the Matter of

2003 October Quarterly Report For

)
)
Reagon To Believe Reccmmendation ) AF #1081
)
The Administrative Fines Progream. )

il

1 CERTIFICATION

AN

2 I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
th

Eg Commission, do hereby certify that on November 28, 2003
f£ the Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the

iz

e following actions in AP #1081:

oF

it 1. Find reason to believe that Sutton for Congress

and Ruth Schiermeuer, as Treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be $2,700.00.

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended
in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum
dated November 21, 2303,

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,

Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:
Nevember 222003 Farkae Rorria
Date / Je Mary W. Dove

Secretary of the Commission
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HESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVILES
CONFIRMATION OF CMGH TOIRUTH SCHIERMEUER
SUTTON FOR CONGRESS
PC BOX 6158
LUBBOCK TX T79493-6158

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
ALAN SHOOK

999 E ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

DECEMBER 1» 2003

RUTH SCHIERMEUER
SUTTON FLCR CONGRESS
PQ BOX 4158

LUDBBGLK TX 79493

€00333377 {
AF#: 1081

DEAR RUTH SCHIERMEUER: ‘.

THE FEDERAL ELECTICN CAMPAIGN ACTY OF 1971y AS AMENDED (®THE
ACT®J, REQUIRES THAT YGUR COMMITTYEE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORY
OF RECETIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS EVERY CALENDAR YEAR. THIS REPURTy
COVERING THE PERIOC THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30TH, SHALL BE FILED WD LATER

THAN OCTOBER L15THe 2 UoS54Ce 434CA2e YOU WERE PREVIDUSLY NOTIFIED S

OF THE OUE OATE FOR THIS REPORT. RECORDS AT THE FEDERAL ELECTION
COMMISSION (P™FEC®) INDICATE THAT THIS REPORT WAS NODT FILED WITHIN
THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE DUE DATE. YOU SHOULD FILE THE OCTGBER
QUARTERLY REPORT IF YOU HAVE NDT ALREADY DONE S0.

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENGED IN 1999 TC PERMIT THE FEC TO IMPASE
CIVIL MODNEY PENALTIES FOR VIGLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS
OF 2 UnSeCe 4341A)e 2 UeSelae 437G{AML4)e ON 1172872003, THE FEC
FOUND THAT THERE I5 REASON TC BELIEVE (™RTB8%} THAT SUTTON FOR '
CONGRESS AND YOUs AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSels 434(A) BY FAILING -
TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPCRT ON OR BEFORE CLCTOBER L5THe BASED ON THE
FEC®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MOKEY PENALTIES AT 11 CoFeRe 1llle43y THE
AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE IS
$2700. [T IS DUE BY 0170772004 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPDRT: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE

LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $56418

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED v
NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: O -

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
T0 PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT TO THE FEC AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3.
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UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMEMNT, THE FEC MILL SEND YOU A FINAL
DETERHINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYs YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEN RESPONSEs INCLUDING THE AF# FOUND
ON PAGE ONEy TO THE FEC®S CFFICZ OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW, 999 £
STREETy NWy WASHINGTONs OC 20463 YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED
8Y 01/07/2004. YOUR WRITTEN RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE VHE REASUNIS) WHY
YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RT2 FINDING AND/GR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY. THE FEC WILL ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A
FACTUAL ERRORy MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
BY THE FECy OR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FJR MORE THAN 48 HGURS THAT WERE BEYUND YOQUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANMNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASQONIS) AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION. THE FEC STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT DOCUMENTS
BE SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFICAVITS OR DECLARATIONS. EXAMPLES OF
CIRCUMSTANCES THAT wWIiLL NOT BE CONSIDEREC EXTRAOCRODINARY INCLUDE., BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED TOes NEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS WITH VENOORS OR
CONTRACTORSe STAFF ILLNESSe COMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESe 11 CoeFeRe 1113532114111} AND (4)e

YOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUMENT IN A TIHELY FASHION GURING THE
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE DEEMED A MAIVER OF YOUR RIGHT T4
PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TO THE DISTRICT COURT UNDER 2
UeS5aCe 437Ge 11 CoFsRe 11138

IF YOU INTEND TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSELy PLEASE AODVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YOU SHLCULD PROVIDEs IN WRITING»
THE NAMEs ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL TO RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIDNS RZLATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

IF YOU 0O NOT PAY THE CALCLLATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DG NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSE, THE FEC WwILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING FACTUAL
ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT SUTTON
FOR CONGRESS AND YOU: A5 TREASURERs VIOLATED 2 UeSoCe 4#34(A) AND
ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSEC THROUGH THE AOMINISTRATIVE'
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SULBJECT TO THE CcB87T CAQLLECTION ACT OF
1982{™OCA®)AS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACLT OF
199465 31 UsSeCe 3701 ET SEC. THE FEC MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZEC AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAs AS AMENDEDs
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE U.Se. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONe 11 CeFeRe 1lllo45.

THIS MATTER WAS GENERATED 3ASED ON IAFORAATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE FEC IN THE NGRMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT ITS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIESe 2 UeSaloe #376(A}I2)a IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UasSeCoe 43TGLAYL4)(B) AND 437GUANLLI2)LAD UNTIL
IT IS PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD IN ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CeF«Re.
111.429 UNLESS YOU NOTIFY THE FEC IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE
MATTER TO B8t MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE FEC®*S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAN,

e
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INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONSy IS LOCATED AT THE FEC®S MEBSITE AT
HHWeFEC.60Ve [IF YQU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE PAYMENY OF THE
CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE CONTACT ALAN S5HOOK IN THE
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT DUR TOLL FREE NUMBER [8003)424-9530
{PRESS 1e THEN PRESS 2) OR (202%694-1130. IF YOU HAYE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A CHALLENGE, PLEASE CONTACT THE QFFICE
OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT CUR TOLL FREE NUMBER L(800)424-9530

(PRESS O THEN EXTe 1660) CR {202)694-16600
SINCERELY s

ELLEN L. WEINTRAUB
CHAIR

* * * * - * * * * * % * *
ADMINISTRATIVYE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRULTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH YHE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CeFeRe
111.43, THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB IS

$2700 FOR THE 2003 COCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT.

PLEASE MALL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORUDER MADE
PAYABLE 7O THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TQ THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS:

FEOERAL ELECTICN CUMMISSION
P.0. 80X 952182
$Te LOUIS» KO 63195-2182

IF YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YOUR REMJTTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR

OVERNIGHT DELIVERYs PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
UeSs BANK - GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEC #952182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
ST. LOULISy MO 63101

THE REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE CUE BY 0170772004,

REGEIPT OF YOUR REMITTANCE AMD PAYMENT, THE FEC wlLL SEND YOU A

FINAL DETERMINATION LETTERe

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYHENT

- S S Y A N D W M N G AR L S D S D AN N A R T e ol v Sl i e b S oD e D e Sl A N A A 0 D SRR A S Al S A S

FGR2 SUTTON FOR COMGRESS

FEC 10#: (00383877

AF#: 1081

PAYMENT ODUE DATE:2 0l/707/72L04

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $2700

ey
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FEDERAL ELECTICN
COMMISSION
SECRETARIAT

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION - JAR I3 P 318

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
January 13, 2004

MEMORANDON SENSITIVE

TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON W/

STAFF DIRECTOR

ROBERT J. COSTA f%‘
DEPUTY STAFF DIRECTOR

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON,
ASSISTANT STAFFDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION
RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2003 OCTOBER QUARTERLY
REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties caiculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2003 October
Quarterly Report. The first list represents the committee that has peid the civil money
penalty and the second list represents the commitiees that have not paid. The committees
that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the
Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.34 and 11 C.F.R. 111.40, the Commission shall
send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the
civil money-penalty. -

For your information, Sutton for Congress (AF #1081) has filed its report. This
report disclosed total receipt and total disbursement figures which result in a civil money
penalty that is lower than that found at the RTB stage ($25 versus $2,700).
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so
indicated. :

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



COMMITTEES THAT HAVE PAID



0sSE'TS $00Z/L0/TO 05¢°’'1$
0 6Z¥'LZTS
XTHIIHYND BHA0ID0 €002 NAZATOH0Y ¥ QUYHOIY $ZTIZE00D
11
GIVd INNOWY aivd ZIva ALTYNSA XINOW TIAID
SHOTIVIOIA SNOIATES ALIATION 40 TIAIT
FdR1 THOAT HTANSYIUL GI FELLIWNOD
aHINLS
ared
t3ONd L40dTY NOILVINOYID NOIIVNIWGALAA TYNIJ

T
Y00Z/ET/T0 3LVA ¥00Z-€002 NOISSIWWOD NOILDITY TYHIQIdL

oy CoLw,

fu

"B

ifi

gaoz/ez/1t
9 tooz/1z/01
D Y3134 "qQIVHIOZLII
ONI 3IVN3S ¥0J GTVYZEDZII4 ELOTIY

lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll

41¥q IATIT3E Ol HOSW3IH

alLy¥E 8avq aiyd 141303
FHYN ILYAIANYD
TN FILLIWWOD # 3v



COMMITTEES THAT HAVE NOT PAID
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20463 SERSI."“E

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, January 13, 2004 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, January 16, 2004 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SMITH, THOMAS, TONER, WEINTRAUB
SUBJECT:  Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation

For the 2003 October Quarterly Report. Memorandum from
The Assistant Staff Director Reports Analysis Division dated

January 13, 2004.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
() I object to the recommendation(s)
() { approve the recommendations except those following

to which ! object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() { approve the recommendations except those following
in which ! am recused (please insert AF#)

- -

() I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please retum ballot no fater
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

)
)
Administrative Fines Final ) AF #1081
‘ Determination Recommendation )
!f for the 2003 October Quartexly )
' )
'ﬁ AMENDED CERTIFICATION
i
i
' I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election
i Commission, do hereby certify that on January 15, 2004 the
b
; Commission decided by a vote of 6-0 to take the following

|
|
|
|
|
|
|
|
i Report.
P
fu actions in AF #1081:

1. Make a final determination that Sutton for Congress
| and Ruth Schiermeuer, as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
| 434 (a) and assess the civil money penalty of $25.00.
|
|

2. Send the appropriate letter, as recommended

in the Assistant Staff Director Reports
Analysis Division Memorandum dated January 13,

2004.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Smith, Thomas,
Toner, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
Attest:

g :722%22 2004 % U L

Date Dove
Secretary of the Commission




WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF CMGH TO:RUTH SCHIERMEUER
SUTTON FOR CUNGRESS
PC BOX 6158
LUBBOCK TX T79493-6158

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
ALAN SHOGK

999 E ST NW # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

JANUARY 1469 2004

RUTH SCHIERMEUER
SUTTON FCR CONGRESS
PO BOX 6158
LUBBOCK TX 79493

€00383877
AF# 1081

DEAR RUTH SCHIERMEUER,

ON 1172872003y THE FEDERAL ELECTION CCHMKISSION (WTHE
COMMISSICN®) FOUND REASON TO BELIEVE ("RTE™3 THAY SUTTON FOR
CONGRESS AND YOU, AS TREASURERy VIOLATED 2 UeSoCe 434(A)} FOR FAILING
TQ FILE THE 2003 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORTe BY MAILGRAM DATED
12701720039 THE COMMISSION SENT YOU NOQTIFICATION OF THE RTB FINDING
THAT INCLUDED A CIVEL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT THE RTB STAGE OF
$2700 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 Ce.FsRe
111043+ WITHIN 40 DAYS OF THE COMMISSION®S RTB FINDINGy YAQU WERE
REQUIRED TO EITHER TRAANSMIT PAYMENT OF ThE CALCULATED CIVIL MUNCY
PENALTY OR SUBMIT A WRITTEMN RESPONSE CHALLENGING EITHER THE RTB
FINGING OR THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYe THE AMOUNT OF THE
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY HAS BEEN CHANGED TO REFLECT ThE ACTUAL LEVEL OF
ACTIVITY OF YOUR 2003 CQCTOBER QUARTERLY REPURT.

THE COMMISSION DID NOT RECEIVE PAYMENTY OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL
MONEY PENALTY DR YOUR HRITTEN RESPCNSE WITHIN THE TIME PERMITTEGD.
THEREFOREs THE COMMISSION MADE A FINAL OETERMINATION ON 01/15/72004
THAT YOUs AS TREASURERy ANL SUTTON FOR CCONGRESS VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe
4341A) AND ASSESSED A CIVIL MONEY PEMALTY IN THE AMOQUNT OF 3$25 IN
ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CeFeRe 1llle43e THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IS BASED
ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORY: NOT ELECTION SENSITIVE

LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: 3$25
NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: NOT FILEOD
NUMBER OF PREVIOUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED: O

TO PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
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_ TO PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENCLOSED FORM AND YOUR
o PAYMENT TO THE ADDRESS ON PAGE 3 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS
LETTER.

(? IF YOU DO NOT PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PEMALTIES ASSESSEL THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE OESBT COLLECTION ACT OF 1982

o ("DCA™)y AS AMENDED BY THE DEBT COLLECTICN IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 199%
("NCIA®™)y 31 UoS4Ce 3701 ET SEQ. IF YOU DO NOT PAY THIS DEBT WITHIN

i 30 DAYS (OR FILE A WRITTEN PETITION TO A FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT -

4 SEE BELOW)e THE COMMISSION WILL TRANSFER THE DEBT TO THE UeSe

b DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY (®TREASURY®) FOR COLLECTIUN. WITHIN 5

s DAYS OF ITS TRANSFER TO TREASURYs TREASURY WILL CONTACT THE DEBTOR

CIVIL MONEY PENALTY FOR ITS COLLECTION SERVICES. THE FEE WILL BE
‘= ADDED TO THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY THAT YOU OWE. SHOULD
;4%  TREASURY'S ATTEMPTS FAIL, TREASURY WILL TRANSFER THE DEBT TO A

= PRIVATE COLLECTION AGENCY ("PCAM™). IF THE DEBT IS REFERRED TO A

ﬁ; PCAs THE TREASURY AND PCA COLLECT A FEE GF 234 GF THE CIVIL MONEY

e PENALTY ANOUNT WHICH WILL 8E ADDED TO THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYe IF THE DEST REMAINS UNPAID, TREASURY MAY RECOMMEND THAT
THE COMMISSION REFER THE MATTER TO THE DEPARTMENT QF JUSTICE FOR
LITIGATICN.

L
\
|
B AND REQUEST PAYMENT. TREASURY CURRENTLY CHARGES A FEE OF 18X OF THE
|

IF YOU CHOOSE TO APPEAL THE FINAL DETERMINATION OR CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY
1F YCU CHOOSE TO APPEAL THE FINAL DETVERMINATIONs YOU SHOULD
SUBMIT A WRITTEN PETITION, WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS LETTERy
TG THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE OISTRICLT IN WHICH
THE COMMITTEE OR YOU RESIDEs OR TRANSACT BUSINESSe REQUESTING THAT
THE FINAL DETERMINATION BE MODIFIED OR SET ASIDEs SEE 2 UeSalos
437G{AMI4I(CI(ITITI)e VYOUR FAILURE TO RAISE AN ARGUAENT IN A TIMELY
FASHION DURING THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS SHALL BE DEEMED A WAIVER
OF THE RESPONDENT®*S RIGHT TO PRESENT SUCH ARGUMENT IN A PETITION TO
THE OISTRICT COURT UNDER 2 Ue3eles 437Gs» 11 CaFeRa 111.28.
BECAUSE OF RESTRICTIONS RECENTLY PLACED ON THE FEC IN AFL-CIO V.

FECs L77 Fe SUPPe 20 48 (D.DeC. 2002)y THE PUBLIC RECORD FILE IN
THIS MATTER WILL CONSIST OF THE REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION®S
MEMORANDUM ON FINAL DETERMINATION (INCLUCING COMMITTEE LIST) AND THE

| CERTIFICATION OF THE FEC'S VCTE ON FINAL DETERMINATIUN

| [F YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARODING THE PAYMENT OF Thc CIVIL
MONEY PENALTYs PLEASE CONTACT ALAN SHOOK AT FEDERAL ELECTIDN

| COMMISSICNe 999 £ STer NWs HASHINGTON, DC 20463, OR OUR TOLL FREE

: NUMBER (8002424~9530 IPRESS 1s THEN PRESS 2) OR (2021694~11130.

\

SINCERELY,

BRADLEY A« 3MITH
CHAIRMAN
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"WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVECES

- - - - - - - - -y - - -

ADMINISTRATIVE FIRE PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEBULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 CoFeRe
11143, THE CIVIL MONEY PEMALTY IS $25 FCR THE
2003 OCTCBER QUARTERLY REPCRT.

THIS PENALTY SHOULD BE PAID BY CHECK OR MONEY ORDER HMADE PAYABLE
TO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION. IT SHOULD BE SENT BY MAIL TO:

FEDERAL ELECTIEN COMMISSION
PD 80X 952182
STe LOUISy MO £3195-2182

If YOU CHOOSE TO SEND YOUR PAYMENT BY COURIER OR OVERNIGHKT
OELIVERYy PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:?

UsSe BANK -~ GOVERNMENT LOCKBCX
FEC #952182

1005 CONVENTION PLAZA

$T. LOUISs MO 63101

THE FORM AND PAYMENT ARE DUE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS
LETTER.

PLEASE OETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

FOR SUTTCN FOR CONGRESS
FEC ID# CO0383877
AF# 1081

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE 325

s

Fann



SUBSEQUENT TO THE JANUARY 13, 2004 MEMORANDUM TO THE
COMMISSION IN WHICH THEY WERE LISTED AS NOT HAVING PAID, THE
COMMITTEE IN THE FOLLOWING CASE HAS PAID ADMINISTRATIVE FINES:
1081






THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE
4 /0¥

DATE FILMED -t -o¥ camerano., ¢
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